RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-17-2013**

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2013AP001201-CR and Trial Court Case No. 2008-CV-528

IN RE THE FINDING OF CONTEMPT IN:

TOWN OF STETTIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ROGER HOEPPNER and MARJORIE HOEPPNER,

Defendant-Appellants.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANTS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeal to the Court of Appeals, District 3, from the entire Final Judgment on

April 5, 2013, of the Marathon County Circuit Court, The Honorable Greg Grau presiding.

Ryan D. Lister State Bar No. 1017025 Attorney for Defendant-Appellants

408 3rd Street, Suite 201 Wausau, WI 54403 Ph. No. (715) 849-5808

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1: Did the Trial Court act contrary to law when it failed to make a finding regarding compliance by the Defendant-Appellants, Roger and Marjorie Hoeppner with the contempt order?

Answered by the trial court: No.

Issue No. 2. Did the Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Stettin, violate the due process clause of U.S. Const. amend. XIV and Wis. Const. art. I sec. 1 when it seized property of the Defendant-Appellants, Roger and Marjorie Hoeppner?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

Issue No. 3. Did the Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Stettin, violate the due process Clause of U.S. Const. amend. XIV and Wis. Const. art. I sec. 1 when it sold property of the Defendant-Appellants, Roger and Marjorie Hoeppner?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. There is no dispute as to the facts giving rise to this appeal. The only issues on appeal are the application of the law to the specific facts of this case and oral argument is unnecessary to clarify Plaintiff-Appellants' position.

Pursuant to Sec. 809.23, Stats., publication is not warranted. The only issues on appeal are the application of the law to the specific facts of this case, therefore, publication is not warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 28, 2008, the Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Stettin, hereinafter "Stettin" filed a Summons and Complaint seeking enforcement of town ordinances regarding sales of

farm equipment, signs located on the property and public nuisance (rubbish and vehicles).

(R.Doc. 1 & 2) The Defendant-Appellants, Roger and Marjorie Hoeppner, hereinafter "Hoeppner" filed an answer denying said allegations and raising affirmative defenses.

On June 1, 2009, the parties entered into a stipulation. Said stipulation was memorialized in an Order dated June 12, 2009. (R.Doc. 18, App. pg. 122)

The Plaintiff brought a motion for contempt and enforcement of the settlement agreement. Said motion was heard on August 24, 2010. In an order dated September 24, 2010, the Court ordered the Hoeppners to remove certain items of personal property. (R.Doc. 22, App. pg. 131)

A hearing was held on May 24, 2011. At said hearing, the Court made a finding that the Hoeppners had not complied with the Court's order of September 24, 2010. The Court further authorized Stettin, after June 24, 2011, to enter upon the Hoeppners' premises and remove certain items of personal property as required by the Court's order of September 24, 2010. (R.Doc. 36)

On three (3) separate occasions, commencing June 27, 2011, Stettin entered onto the property of the Hoeppners' and seized items of personal property belonging to the Hoeppners. Stettin then sold said items at auction.

On April 5, 2013, the Court entered its findings of fact, conclusions of law and final judgment of April 5, 2013. In said order and judgment, the Court imposed a daily forfeiture and awarded legal fees for failure to comply with the May 24, 2011 order. (R.Doc. 70)

The Hoeppners have appealed from the entire judgment of the court dated April 5, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Stettin, hereinafter "Stettin" filed a Summons and Complaint on April 28, 2008, to enforce provisions of its zoning code (R. Doc. 1& 2, App. pg. 102-120) The Defendant-Appellants, Roger and Marjorie Hoeppner, hereinafter "Hoeppner" filed an Answer denying said complaint and alleging four (4) affirmative defenses (R.Doc. 13. App. pg. 121)

The parties entered into an oral stipulation on June 1, 2009. The oral stipulation was memorialized in an order dated June 12, 2009. (R. Doc. 18 App. pg. 128)

In return for Stettin agreeing to review its zoning ordinances, the Hoeppners agreed to remove numerous items of personal property. Said order contained, in part, the following:

- C. Remove all trailers or be stored on the parcels in an area where they are not visible from the right of ways;
- I. All forklifts shall be stored on the parcels in an area where they are not visible from the right of ways;
- K. All rims and tractor parts shall be moved to the parcel where the tractors are located and stored and in an area where which is not visible from the right of ways abutting the Defendants' parcels;
- M. All material/parts/equipment shall be removed from the side of the sheds and stored in an area where they will not be visible from the right of ways abutting the Defendants' parcels;
- O. All unlicensed and/or inoperable vehicles shall be either removed from the parcels or stored in an area where they will not be visible from the right of ways abutting the Defendants' parcels;

Q. All white PVC pipe, wire, wood, and culverts on said parcels shall be moved and/or stored in an area where it will not be visible from the right of ways abutting the Defendants' parcels;

(emphasis added)

Said order further provided that upon the affidavit of the Town Chairman, Stettin would be granted immediate injunctive relief to enforce the terms thereof. (R.Doc. 18, App. pg. 128-129)

Stettin filed a motion for contempt and enforcement of the settlement agreement in this matter. Said motion came on for hearing before the court on August 24, 2010. Said hearing was memorialized in an Order dated September 24, 2010. Said order addressed items of personal property belonging to the Hoeppners. The Hoeppners stipulated to a finding of contempt. Further, said order provided in Paragraph 9 as follows:

Upon the Defendants' failure to comply with any aspect of this Order, the Town shall be granted all relief and may seek all remedies for the contempt. In all other respects, the Defendants' parcels shall conform to the requirements of the district for which said parcels are zoned.

(R.Doc. 22, App. pg. 133)

The matter was before the Court again on May 24, 2011. At that time, the Court found that the Defendants had not complied with the order signed on September 24, 2010. Further the Court found that the Defendants had not purged their contempt as of May 24, 2011. In addition, the Court ordered , in Paragrapg 3 as follows:

The Town, its agents, officers, employees and/or persons and companies contracted by the Town are authorized after June 24, 2011, to enter upon the

Defendants' premises and remove or cause to be removed all farm equipment, pallets, and other material required by the Court's Order signed September 24, 2010, to be removed and/or which in any respect is in violation of said order and to dispose of the said property as set forth in Paragraph 4 of Plaintiff's Motion to the Court dated July 28, 2010.

(R.Doc 36, App. pg. 155-156)

On June 27, 2011, Stettin entered onto Hoeppners' property. Stettin removed personal and business items from the Hoeppners' property. Said items consisted in part of business property such as farm equipment, trailers, wooden pallets and items of personal property such as a wood splitter and wood. (R.Doc. 39)

On July 1, 2011, Stettin entered onto Hoeppner's property a second time. Stettin, purportedly under authority of the a document issued by the Marathon County Circuit Court, removed personal and business items form the Hoeppners' property. (R.Doc 39)

On July 11, 2011, Stettin entered onto the Hoeppners' property a third time. Again, Stettin removed personal and business items from the Hoeppners' property. .(R.Doc. 39)

The estimated fair market value of the Hoeepners' property that was seized and removed form the property by the Town of Stettin is approximately \$164,815.00. (R.Doc. 39)

That the property seized by Stettin from the Hoeppners' property was sold at auction. (R.Doc. 34) Said auction was held on July 23, 2011.

On April 5, 2013, the matter came on for hearing before the Court. The Court awarded a Judgment in favor of Stettin and against the Hoeppners in the amount of \$24,000.00. Further, the Court reaffirmed its judgment of June 21, 2011, with forfeitures in

the sum of \$23,000.00 together with costs in the amount of \$11,568.21. (R.Doc. 70, App. pg. 173)

ARGUMENT

I. The Court acted contrary to law when it authorized Stettin to enter onto Hoeppner's property and to seize and sell items of personal property.

A. Standard of review.

Questions of law will be considered de novo by the appellate courts. A question of

law is presented when the construction of a statute is in issue. Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of

Wis., 319 Wis.2d 1, 768 N.W. 2d 615 (2009).

B. After the Order of May 24, 2011, no hearing was held and no findings were made to determine if the purge condition was in the power of the Defendants.

A hearing was held in this matter on May 24, 2011. The Court stated the following as

to the right to purge:

MR. LISTER: I understand, but these things can be moved.

Once he is in compliance, the township has no authority to

come and set foot on that property.

THE COURT: I agree. I am giving him actually in effect

another month. The forfeitures are going to accumulate.

Apparently a hundred dollars a day isn't enough.

(R.Doc. 85, App. pg. 152)

The rule regarding the right to purge a contempt is as follows:

...In the case of a remedial sanction, compliance with the purge provision must be in the power of the contemnor. See *State ex rel. N.A. v. G.S.*, 156 Wis. 2d 338, 343, 456 N.W.2d 867, 869 (Ct. App. 1990). ...*In re Marriage of*

Krieman v. Goldberg, 214 Wis. 2d 163, 169, 571 N.W.2d 425 (Ct. App. 1997).

In *State Ex Rel. N.A. v. G.S.*, 156 Wis. 2d 338, 342, 456 N.W.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1990): the court held as follows:

Remedial contempt looks to present and future compliance with court orders, and the sanction must be purgeable through compliance. *State v. King*, 82 Wis. 2d 124, 130, 262 N.W.2d 80, 83 (1978). The purge provision must clearly spell out what the contemnor must do to be purged, and that action must be within the power of the person. *Schroeder v. Schroeder*, 100 Wis. 2d 625, 638, 302 N.W.2d 475, 482, (1981). Thus it is often said that contemnors "hold the keys to their own jails." *King*, 82 Wis. 2d at 137, 262 N.W.2d at 86.

It is undisputed that the Court, in the May 24, 2011 Order, gave the Hoeppners the

right to purge their contempt. However, no hearing was held to determine whether or not the purge conditions were within the power of the Hoeppners' and whether or not the Hoeppners purged said contempt.

C. The court can not abdicate its power to make a finding of fact regarding compliance to the Town of Stettin.

The Town of Stettin does not have authority to determine if the Hoeppners have complied with the court order nor does it have authority to impose the remedial sanction of cleaning up the property and conducting an auction. Only a court of record may impose a remedial sanction.

Paragraph 3 of the Order of May 24, 2011, provides as follows:

The Town, its agents, officers, employees and/or persons and companies contracted by the Town are authorized after June 24, 2011, to enter upon the Defendants' premises and remove or cause to be removed all farm equipment, pallets, and other material required by the Court's Order signed September 24, 2010, to be removed and/or which in any respect is in

violation of said order and to dispose of the said property as set forth in Paragraph 4 of Plaintiff's Motion to the Court dated July 28, 2010.

(R.Doc 36, App. pg. 155-156)

Unless a hearing is held after June 24, 2011, there is no way to determine what property is to be removed pursuant to the Court's Order of June 12, 2009. Further, without a hearing, there is no way to determine if the property seized and removed from the Hoeppners' property is property that can be legaly disposed of. For example, as previously stated in the June 12, 2009 Order, numerous items could not be removed if they were not visible from the right of way abutting the Hoeppners' parcel. No determination has ever been made regarding each separate item of property as to whether or not it complied with the June 12, 2009 Order.

D. The Town of Stettin did not follow the proper procedure to obtain a remedial sanction after June 24, 2011.

The proper procedure was for the Town of Stettin to file a motion, <u>after</u> June 24, 2011, if the Hoeppners were not in compliance. Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a) provides as follows:

(a) Remedial sanction. A person aggrieved by a contempt of court may seek imposition of a remedial sanction for the contempt by filing a motion for that purpose in the proceeding to which the contempt is related. The court, <u>after</u> <u>notice and hearing</u>, may impose a remedial sanction authorized by this chapter. (Emphasis added.)

After June 24, 2011, Stettin failed to file a motion and request a hearing to impose the sanction. Instead, just three (3) days later, on June 27, 2011, Stettin entered Hoeppner's property and started seizing and removing items of personal property.

II. The procedure followed by the Town of Stettin denied the Hoeppners due process of law.

A. The Hoeppners were deprived of property without due process of law.

The U.S. Const, amend. XIV; Wis. Const., art. I, sec. 1 provides, in part, that no state may deprive any person of property without due process of law.

It is undisputed that Stettin is a municipal corporation. Further, it is undisputed that Stettin entered onto the Hoeppners' property and seized items of personal property and then sold said items.

B. Stettin's zoning ordinance is an exercise of its police power to regulate the use of property.

When police power legislation is challenged on due process grounds, the question is whether the means chosen have a reasonable and rational relationship to the purpose or object of the enactment. *Messner v. Briggs & Stratton Corp.*, 120 Wis.2d [131 Wis.2d 534] 127, 135, 353 N.W.2d 363, 367 (Ct.App.1984).

C. The procedure followed by Stettin in this matter deprived

the Hoeppners of due process of law.

Stettin denied Hoeppners due process of law in several respects. After the May 24, 2011 Order, the Hoeppner's had the right to purge their contempt. However. Stettin did not request a hearing to determine whether or not the purge conditions were within the power of the Hoeppners and whether or not the Hoeppners purged said contempt.

Further, Stettin did not follow the proper procedure to obtain a remedial sanction. Wis.Stats. § 785.03(1)(a), allows a Court, after notice and hearing, to impose a remedial sanction. Stettin did not seek a hearing to determine which specific items of farm equipment, pallets and other material were in violation of the May 24, 2011 Order. Without a hearing, Stettin was judge and jury as to which items of personal property should be removed from the Hoeppners. This is a violation of the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV.

CONCLUSION

The proper procedure to impose remedial sanctions for a contempt proceeding were not followed by Stettin. The failure to follow the remedial sanctions deprived the Hoeppners of their property without due process. Further, the actions by Stettin were in direct violation of the procedure outlined by Wisconsin Statutes.

The Hoeppners respectfully request the Court to find that Stettin seized and sold Hoeppner's property in violation of the Wisconsin Statutes and in violation of Hoeppners' due process rights.

The Hoeppners request that the Court of Appeals overturn the findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment of April 5, 2013, imposing forfeitures, costs and legal fees against the Hoeppners.