RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN01-17-2014 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

In re the finding of contempt in:

TOWN OF STETTIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appeal No. 2013-AP-1201 Trial Court Case No. 2008-CV-528

ROGER HOEPPNER and MARJORIE HOEPPNER,

Defendants-Appellants.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Marathon County, The Honorable Gregory E. Grau, Presiding

> Shane J. VanderWaal PIETZ, VANDERWAAL, STACKER & ROTTIER, S.C. Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Stettin

530 Jackson Street Wausau, WI 54403 Phone: (715) 845-9211 Fax: (715) 842-9317

E-mail: vanderwaal@pvsrlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court Appropriately Exercised Its Contempt Power In Approving The Purge Conditions In The September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order As Modified and Reaffirmed In The May 24, 2011 Order.

The circuit court appropriately exercised its discretion in approving the purge conditions set forth in the September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order. The circuit court also properly exercised its contempt powers in modifying and reaffirming the May 24, 2011 Order. The purge conditions in both Orders served remedial aims, were within the Hoeppners' ability to fulfill and were reasonably related to the cause or nature of the contempt.

In *Frisch v. Henrichs*, 2007 WI 102, 304 Wis.2d 1, 736 N.W.2d 85, the Supreme quoted *Larsen v. Larsen*, 165 Wis.2d 679, 478 N.W.2d 18 (1992), concerning the parameters for purge conditions in civil contempt as follows: "[T]he purge condition should serve remedial aims, the contemnor should be able to fulfill the proposed purge, and the condition should be reasonably related to the cause or nature of the contempt." *Frisch*, 2007 WI 102, ¶ 64.

In this case, the original purge conditions arose from the September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order, R. 22, A-App. 121, and the updated Order of May 24, 2011. R. 36, A-App. 155. The September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order contains specific purge conditions and granted a nine-month period for the removal of all farm equipment from the Hoeppners' property with a third (30)-day time window

for interim clean-up. Since the Hoeppners stipulated to the purge conditions initially, it is problematical how they can now raise an issue about whether their compliance was within their power to perform.

The Hoeppners concede that the May 24, 2011 Order, "gave the Hoeppners the right to purge their contempt." Appellants' Brief at p. 7. Apparently, the Hoeppners do not contest the propriety of the purge conditions set forth in the September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order or the May 24, 2011 Order. Likewise, the Hoeppners are not contesting the \$100 per day forfeiture or the \$500 per day forfeiture imposed in the May 24, 2011 Order. The Hoeppners contend that, as a matter of law, the circuit court was required to hold another purge compliance hearing prior to permitting the Town to enter onto the Hoeppners' property. Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-9. As the May 24, 2011 Order states:

- 3. The Town, its agents, officers, employees and/or persons and companies contracted by the Town are authorized after June 24, 2011, to enter upon the Defendants' premises and remove or cause to be removed all farm equipment, pallets, and other material required by the Court's Order signed September 24, 2010, to be removed and/or which in any respect is in violation of said Order and to dispose of the said property as set forth in paragraph 4 of Plaintiff's Motion to the Court dated July 28, 2010.
- 4. That the parties shall set a future hearing in this matter for the award of the Town's costs including attorney's fees.
- R. 36, A-App. 156. Apparently, the Hoeppners argue that the foregoing provisions should have been the subject of a seventh purge hearing.

The Hoeppners also contend that the circuit court erred in not holding a seventh purge hearing, after May 24, 2011, prior to the Town's entry on the Hoeppners' property, to determine whether the purge conditions were within the Hoeppners' power to perform. Appellants' Brief at p. 7, Argument I. B. The Hoeppners' argument ignores their Stipulation to the purge conditions in the September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order as well as the statements made by the Hoeppners' counsel on May 24, 2011:

- (1) Regarding the pallets, counsel for the Hoeppners said, "... but these things can be moved." R. 85, p. 17, A-App. 152.
- (2) In response to the circuit court's finding the existing farm equipment was moved to the edge of the Hoeppners' property and the circuit court's reminder that all of the equipment was to be removed (entirely) within nine (9) months, counsel for the Hoeppners simply said that, "[a]s to that equipment, there has been nothing new brought on there." R. 85, p. 13, A-App. 148.
- (3) Counsel for the Hoeppners explained, prior to the circuit court's view, the Hoeppners' plans about selling, advertising, moving and storage arrangements off of the Hoeppners' property.

 R. 85, p. 7-9, A-App. 142-44.

The purge conditions were not imposed on the Hoeppners following a contested contempt hearing. The Hoeppners specifically agreed to the purge

conditions in August of 2010. Their counsel represented to the circuit court in May, 2011 that moving pallets and farm equipment were not a problem and that the Hoeppners had a comprehensive plan to attain full compliance within thirty (30) days. Given this record, the circuit court could and did properly exercise its discretion in designing appropriate contempt sanctions to terminate the Hoeppners' continuing contempt. See *City of Wisconsin Dells v. Dells Fireworks*, 197 Wis.2d 1, 539 N.W.2d 916 (Ct. App. 1995).

The Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Fashioning A Contempt Remedy At The May 24, 2011 Hearing, Including Thirty (30) Additional Days For The Hoeppners To Purge And Permission For The Town To Clean-Up The Property And Conduct Auction.

At the May 24, 2011 hearing, the circuit court addressed the parties' dispute about purge compliance by conducting a *second* judicial view of the Hoeppners' property. Initially, the Hoeppners' counsel flatly represented that the Hoeppners were in "full compliance". R. 85, p. 6, A-App. 141. The circuit court inquired of the Hoeppners' counsel what the plan was for clean-up at the end of nine (9) months. Counsel explained the plans for advertising, moving and paying for storage. R. 85, p. 7-9, A-App. 142-44. However, the Town's counsel disputed purge compliance and the circuit court deemed a view of the premises for a second time was necessary. R. 85, pp. 9-11, A-App. 144-46.

Upon return from the judicial view of the Hoeppners' property, the circuit court made findings concerning the interim purge compliance (as of May 24, 2011) as well as the final purge compliance deadline in thirty (30) days (June 24, 2011), nine (9) months after September 24, 2010. R. 85, pp. 11-18, A-App. 146-53.

The Hoeppners did not challenge any findings of the circuit court after its view of their property on May 24, 2011 but do challenge the circuit court's use of its contempt power.

On appeal, the appellate court reviews the circuit court's use of contempt powers to determine if the circuit court properly exercised its discretion. *City of Wisconsin Dells v. Dells Fireworks*, 197 Wis.2d 1, 23, 539 N.W.2d 916 (Ct. App. 1995); *see also Benn v. Benn*, 230 Wis.2d 301, 312, 602 N.W.2d 54 (Ct. App. 1999).

The issues, then, become whether the circuit court's exercise of discretion was proper or erroneous and whether the record shows a process of reasoning dependent on facts of record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded on proper legal standards. *Estate of Burgess v. Peterson*, 214 Wis.2d 180, 186-87, 571 N.W.2d 432, 436 (Ct. App. 1997).

As reflected in the transcript and Order resulting from the May 24, 2011 hearing, R. 85, pp. 6-17, A-App. 141-52; R. 36, the circuit court heard counsels' arguments and statements and, then, conducted its second view of the property.

The circuit court noted that there "were many, many more than 40 pallets" located on the residence parcel. R. 85, p. 12, A-App. 147. The circuit court also noted that, "[t]here were more than 40 pallets when I was on there the last time. There is [sic] more pallets now than there were the last time." R. 85, p. 17, A-App. 152. The circuit court also found that the pallets on the parcel east of the residence were to be sixty (60) feet from the edge of the right-of-way and out of sight. The circuit court estimated the pallets were up to sixteen (16) feet from the edge of the right-of-way. R. 85, p. 12, A-App. 147. The circuit court also noted compliance with moving the farm equipment to the east end of the westerly parcel, as far north as possible, but noted that "all of that equipment is to be removed within nine months of the date of this order [by June 24, 2011]...." R. 85, pp. 12-13, A-App. 147-48.

The circuit court also addressed lack of compliance of moving or storing pipe, wire and wood, etc. where it was not visible from rights-of-way and noted "the defendant continues to be in contempt." R. 85, p. 13, A-App. 148. After noting the numerous non-compliance items, the circuit court concluded that the \$100 per day forfeitures "are not adequate, and I need to design a sanction to terminate this continuing contempt.... Apparently a hundred dollars a day isn't enough." R. 85, pp. 14, 17, A-App.149, 152.

Accordingly, the circuit court concluded,

I can see where some things have been done, but to say there is compliance, there isn't. The real significant date is one month from today. I am increasing the forfeiture as of today to \$500 per day; and as of September 24th [sic June 24], if the property

hasn't been removed as is guaranteed under this, then I will be authorizing the town to remove whatever property is not in compliance.... I am giving him actually in effect another month. The forfeitures are going to accumulate....

R. 85, p. 15, 17, A-App. 150, 152.

Counsel for the Hoeppners only asked for clarification on one issue "[o]nce [Mr. Hoeppner] is in compliance, the township has no authority to come and set foot on that property." R. 85, p. 17, A-App. 152. Importantly counsel did not request any hearing about purge compliance in June, 2011 as counsel, now, is asserting was a violation of the Hoeppners' right to due process. The circuit court's response to counsel for the Hoeppners was that, "I agree.... [The judgment will stop] [w]hen there has been compliance." R. 85, p. 17, A-App. 152.

There is nothing in the Record to show any objection to the Town entering on the Hoeppners' property without another hearing.

On June 24, 2011, the Hoeppners filed a Motion to Vacate Stipulation and to Vacate Fines as well as an Emergency Motion to Stay All Orders Pending a Hearing Upon Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Stipulation and Vacate Fines. R. 37, 38. Instead of requesting a hearing or notifying the circuit court of "full compliance" with the purge, the Hoeppners elected to attempt to reopen and relitigate their Stipulation.

Accordingly, the Record establishes that after observing the Hoeppners' property for a second time, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in

increasing daily forfeiture, authorizing the Town to enter on to the Hoeppner property, but granting the Hoeppners another thirty(30) to purge their contempt.

This Court Should Apply The Waiver Rule, No-Authority Cited Rule, And Inadequate Development Rule To Hoeppners' Argument That Yet Another Purge Hearing After The May 24, 2011 Hearing Was A Condition Precedent To Authorizing The Town To Clean Up The Hoeppners' Property.

The Hoeppners did not present their argument for another purge hearing to the circuit court. The Hoeppners do not cite any authority for this argument and have provided no legal reasoning for the additional purge hearing. For the first time on appeal, the Hoeppners argue that the circuit court was required to hold a seventh purge hearing to determine whether they were in compliance with the purge condition set forth in September 24, 2010 Stipulated Order and whether the purge conditions "were within the power of the Hoeppners'...." Appellants' Brief, p. 7, Argument I. B.

While the May 24, 2011 hearing was the last hearing before the Town carried out the authorization granted by the circuit court, the Hoeppners baldly assert that an additional motion for contempt and hearing was required with no citation to authority or any legal reasoning.

Likewise, the Hoeppners baldly reference *Messner v. Briggs & Stratton Corp.*, 120 Wis.2d 127, 353 N.W.2d 363 (Ct. App. 1984), without developing any argument about how due process challenges to police power legislation relate to enforcement of zoning ordinances with the circuit court's civil contempt power.

At the May 24, 2011, the only issue relative to another hearing that was raised was by the circuit court and counsel for the Town:

THE COURT: Obviously we will have a follow-up hearing with whoever is sitting here at that time.

MR. VANDER WAAL: What's the purpose of the follow-up? To argue about the costs --

THE COURT: Costs.

R. 85, p. 16, A-App. 151.

Counsel for the Hoeppners was silent about the follow-up hearing; although, he did seek clarification of the circuit court's ruling concerning the termination of the Town's authority to set foot on the Hoeppners' property on the day of compliance. R. 85, p. 17, A-App. 152.

Issues not considered by the circuit court ordinarily are deemed waived and will not be considered by the Court of Appeals. *Jackson v. Benson*, 218 Wis.2d 835, 901, 578 N.W.2d 602, 630-31 (1998); *Noack v. Noack*, 149 Wis.2d 567, 575, 439 N.W.2d 600 (Ct. App. 1989). However, more significant than raising new issues on appeal is the failure to cite any authority, develop any argument or legal analysis which bridges the gap between simply stating facts and asserting conclusions. This court should decline to consider these issues as inadequately briefed. *In re Guardianship of O. G. M-K*, 2010 WI App 90, ¶ 20, 327 Wis.2d 749, 763-64, 787 N.W.2d 848 (arguments inadequately developed); *State v. Lindell*, 2000 WI App 180, 238 Wis.2d 422, 438, 617 N.W.2d 500, 507, aff'd

2001 WI 108 (undeveloped legal reasoning); *Roehl v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 222 Wis.2d 136, 148-49, 585 N.W.2d 893, 898 (Ct. App. 1998) (state facts and assert conclusion without legal analysis to bridge the gap).

In sum, the Hoeppners, prior to this appeal, never presented to the circuit court their argument that a second purge hearing was necessary. In addition, the Hoeppners cite no authority for this argument and have provided no legal reasoning for the additional purge hearing. As such, this Court should apply the waiver rule, no authority cited rule and its inadequate development rule as set forth above.

Due Process Does Not Require Multiple Hearings With Multiple Notices In Civil Contempt Cases But Only An Opportunity To Be Heard In Court At A Meaningful Time And In A Meaningful Manner Upon Proper Notice.

Even if this Court entertains the Hoeppners' due process argument made for the first time on appeal, there is no merit to the argument. "'[A]n opportunity to be heard in court at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner' satisfies procedural due process." *City of South Milwaukee v. Kester*, 2013 WI App 50, ¶¶ 13-14, 347 Wis.2d 334, 830 N.W.2d 710; *Noack v. Noack*, 149 Wis.2d 567, 571-72, 439 N.W.2d 601 (Ct. App. 1989). In *Noack*, the court of appeals turned away a due process challenge for a contemnor who was found in contempt *in absentia*, finding that he had an opportunity to be heard. 149 Wis.2d at 571-72.

The appellate contempt decisions reference due process but provide no support for the Hoeppners' due process argument. In *Larsen v. Larsen*, *supra*, the Supreme Court explained:

Due process is what process is due under the circumstances. Civil contempt may be purged by the contemnor's complying with the court order which led to the contempt. Circuit courts are not otherwise required to grant purge conditions. However, we agree with the court of appeals that it is within the circuit court's inherent authority to grant purge conditions which allow contemnors to purge their contempt outside of complying with the court order which led to the contempt. (Citations omitted.)

165 Wis.2d at 685.

In *Diane K. J. v. James L. J. (In Re the Paternity of CY C.J.)*, 196 Wis.2d 964, 970, 539 N.W.2d 703 (Ct. App. 1995), the court explained that due process in civil contempt cases is largely taken care of with compliance to the original order or with the purge conditions:

With a remedial sanction, however, the contemnor's ability to avoid the sanction, through compliance with the original order or satisfaction of the purge condition, obviates the need for due process.

196 Wis.2d at 970.

Despite the limited due process provisions applicable in civil contempt, there is a line of cases which address the right to counsel under the 6th and 14th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution in civil contempt actions brought by the state. See *State v. Pultz*, 206 Wis.2d 112, 119-23, 556 N.W.2d 708 (1996) (state's injunction re: picketing medical clinic), citing *Ferris v. State ex rel. Maass*, 75 Wis.2d 542-43, 249 N.W.2d 789 (1977) (DNR enforcement).

The Town contends that the Hoeppners neither raised due process in the circuit court nor developed any argument about why due process requires another hearing beyond the six (6) contempt hearings held: August 24, 2010; October 1, 2010; November 17, 2010; February 15, 2011; April 25, 2011; and May 9 and 24, 2011. However, there is nothing in the record showing that the Hoeppners were not afforded a meaningful opportunity to be heard in a meaningful manner and at a meaningful time.

CONCLUSION

The circuit court properly exercised it discretion in conducting at least six (6) contempt hearings before allowing the Town to proceed with the clean-up of the Hoeppner property. The Hoeppners have failed to demonstrate any misuse of the circuit court's discretion. The Hoeppners further fail to cite any authority requiring a seventh purge hearing. The Hoeppners do not develop any legal argument as to why due process makes a seventh purge hearing necessary.

Accordingly the Town asks this Court to affirm the circuit court's April 5, 2013 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment.